IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC08-2137

CHARLES WILLIAM FINNEY,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PAMELA H. IZAKOWITZ
Backhus & Izakowitz, P.A.
Florida Bar No. 0053856
13014 N. Dale Mabry, #746
Tampa, FL 33618
(813) 269-7604

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Finney was charged by indictment returned on February 13, 1991, with first-degree murder (Count I); robbery with a deadly weapon (Count II); sexual battery (Count III); and trafficking in stolen property (Count IV). The sexual battery charge was nolle prossed.

Mr. Finney went to trial on September 14, 1992. Mr. Finney testified in his own defense. After the jury deliberated for eight hours, the jury returned a verdict of guilty of murder, armed robbery and stolen property (R. 756-758).

Mr. Finney's sentencing phase began on September 18, 1992. The jury returned an advisory sentence of death that day, with a vote of 9-3. Mr. Finney was sentenced to death on November 10, 1992 (R. 941-942). The trial court found the aggravating factors of previous conviction of a felony involving the use or threat of violence; the capital felony was committed for financial gain; and the crime was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel (R. 941-952). The trial court found several non-statutory mitigating circumstances, including that Mr. Finney had a good work and military history; that he had positive character traits; there was potential for rehabilitation; that he enlisted in the service; and was honorably discharged (R. 948-950).

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the conviction and death sentence. Finney v. State, 660 So. 2d 674

(Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 116 S. Ct. 823 (1996).

Mr. Finney sought post-conviction relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850/3.851. No evidentiary hearing was held in circuit court. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the summary denial of relief. Finney v. State, 831 So. 2d 651 (Fla. 2002).

Mr. Finney filed various pro se motions to dismiss his post-conviction attorneys and a pro se motion for rehearing in the Florida Supreme Court, but was denied. The mandate from the Florida Supreme Court was issued on December 23, 2002.

On January 14, 2003, then counsel for Mr. Finney filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and it was amended on July 21, 2003. On July 8, 2003, counsel for Mr. Finney filed in circuit court a Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence raising two claims, a Brady v. Maryland¹ claim, arguing that the State withheld exculpatory evidence, and a claim alleging a conflict of interest with his post-conviction counsel. These claims were denied without an evidentiary hearing or a written opinion in Finney v. State, 907 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 2005).

The United States District Court denied all claims on July 5, 2006, Finney v. McDonough, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 45292 (M.D. Fla. July 5, 2006). A corrected order was filed on July 17, 2006, Finney v. McDonough, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 48789 (M.D. Fla. July 17, 2006).

¹Brady v. Maryland, 383 U.S. 83 (1963).

Mr. Finney filed a timely Notice of Appeal and Application for a Certificate of Appealability on August 3, 2006. The District Court denied the application on August 14, 2006, Finney v. McDonough, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 57288 (M.D. Fla. August 14, 2006).

On August 18, 2006, Mr. Finney submitted an Application for Certificate of Appealability to the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. Judge William H. Pryor, Jr. denied Mr. Finney's Application without comment on September 13, 2006. Mr. Finney filed a Motion for Reconsideration for Certificate of Appealability, which was denied by a three-judge panel on November 9, 2006.

A petition for certiorari to the United States Supreme Court was filed on February 5, 2007 and denied on June 11, 2007.

On June 21, 2007, Mr. Finney filed a Rule 3.851 motion in which he raised two arguments -- that Florida's lethal injection procedure used violates the Eighth amendment to the U.S. Constitution and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment and newly available evidence shows that Mr. Finney's conviction and sentence constitute cruel and unusual punishment, and violates the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution (PC-R. 47-93). The State filed a response (PC-R. 101-112).

At a hearing on the motion on April 23, 2008, Mr. Finney argued for an opportunity to pursue public records on the lethal injection claim, and asked for an opportunity to argue his

claims in state court (PC-R. At 114).

Circuit Court Judge Wayne Timmerman summarily denied the motion and an evidentiary hearing (PC-R. at 114-115).

A written order denying Mr. Finney's motion was filed on September 26, 2008 (PC-R. at 109-199). A motion for rehearing was filed and denied on October 22, 2008 (PC-R. at 200-208; 215-324).

A timely notice of appeal was filed on November 13, 2008 (PC-R. at 325). This appeal follows and is timely.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Finney was deprived of his due process rights of notice and opportunity to be heard and to present evidence on his challenge to Florida's lethal injection procedures. Mr. Finney filed his challenge to the lethal injection procedures in light of the events during the execution of Angel Diaz. Although Mr. Lightbourne was given an opportunity to be heard and present evidence on his challenge to the lethal injection procedures, Mr. Finney was denied that right when the circuit court erroneously ruled that this Court's case law predating the Diaz execution precluded a challenge to the lethal injection procedures.

The manner in which Florida's capital sentencing scheme operates is arbitrary and capricious within the meaning of the Eighth Amendment, and thus unconstitutional. Arbitrary factors are present and can be seen in Mr. Finney's case. Accordingly, his death sentence violates the Eighth Amendment principles enunciated in Furman v. Georgia.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The claims presented in this brief are constitutional issues on which no evidentiary development occurred. The circuit court summarily denied an evidentiary hearing, but the facts alleged by the Appellant must be accepted as true for purposes of this appeal in order to determine whether the Appellant is entitled to an opportunity to present evidence in support of his factual allegations. Peede v. State, 748 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1999); Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509 (Fla. 1999); Lightbourne v. Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989). The review conducted on such claims is *de novo*.

ARGUMENT I

**THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING
APPELLANT'S
CHALLENGE TO FLORIDA'S PROCEDURES FOR CARRYING OUT A LETHAL
INJECTION EXECUTION AS VIOLATING THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO
THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.²**

On June 21, 2007, Mr. Finney filed his Rule 3.851 motion in which he argued that Florida's lethal injection procedures violated the Eighth Amendment. The trial judge denied Mr. Finney an evidentiary hearing on this claim. In the order summarily denying Mr. Finney's lethal injection claim, the circuit court found in ground one that Florida's three-drug lethal injection protocol does not constitute cruel and unusual punishment, and Mr. Finney was not entitled to relief.

In ground two, the trial court held that the 2006 ABA Report was not newly discovered evidence, and Mr. Finney's argument was not filed within one year of his judgment and sentence (PC-R. at 110-111).

What the circuit court did not address in its order

²Even though this Court has denied claims similar to Mr. Finney's claim in other cases, Mr. Finney is obligated to present his claim to this Court in order to "exhaust" for purposes of seeking federal habeas relief. As this Court's precedent holds, Mr. Finney cannot summarily present his constitutional arguments or rely upon pleadings detailing the claim that was presented in the circuit court. By virtue of his obligation to "exhaust" his constitutional claims and his obligation to fully brief the claim before this Court in order to have the merits heard, Mr. Finney must set forth his detailed argument even though this Court has adversely decided claims like his in other cases.

was Mr.

Finney argument that he was entitled to the same opportunity to be heard that had been afforded Mr. Lightbourne. In his motion for rehearing, Mr. Finney specifically addressed Lightbourne v. McCollum, 969 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 2007), and this Court's opinion in Schwab v. State, 969 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 2007), and argued that Mr. Finney was entitled to an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Finney even proffered the evidence that he wished to present that Mr. Lightbourne had not presented at his evidentiary hearing.³

The circuit court deprived Mr. Finney of his due process rights under the state and federal constitutions. The decision to not grant Mr. Finney the right to present evidence and be heard that was extended to Mr. Lightbourne violates due process.

In Lightbourne, this Court affirmed the ultimate denial of Lightbourne's challenge to Florida's lethal injection procedures. In Lightbourne, a lengthy evidentiary hearing had been held, and this Court found competent and substantial evidence in the record to support the circuit court's factual conclusions.

When this Court issued its opinion in Lightbourne,

³Mr. Finney also sought to obtain public records on the Richard Henyard execution that occurred on September 23, 2008. Newspaper accounts of the execution indicated that Henyard "appeared to be shaking and having a hard time breathing," and that there may have been problems during the execution. Associated Press, Rapist and murderer of girls, 7 and 3, executed, the Florida Times-Union, (September 25, 2008). The circuit court did not address this issue in its order denying relief to Mr. Finney.

it also issued an opinion in Schwab v. State, 969 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 2007). In Schwab unlike in Lightbourne,⁴ the circuit court had not held an evidentiary hearing on an Eighth Amendment challenge to Florida's lethal injection procedures in light of the Diaz execution. This Court in Schwab clearly stated that "when an inmate presents an Eighth Amendment claim which is based primarily upon facts that occurred during a recent execution, the claim is not procedurally barred." Schwab, 969 So. 2d at 321.

Beyond simply being able to present the claim and obtain merits consideration, this Court indicated in Schwab that when presented with a timely Rule 3.851 challenging lethal injection after the Diaz execution, the movant is entitled to have the circuit court either 1) take judicial notice of the evidence presented in the Lightbourne proceedings, or 2) conduct an evidentiary hearing on the claim:

Under the unique circumstances of this case and based on the court's other ruling summarily denying relief, we hold that the postconviction court erred in failing to take judicial notice of the record in Lightbourne. **Since Schwab's allegations were sufficiently pled, the postconviction court should have either granted Schwab an evidentiary hearing, or if Schwab was relying upon the evidence already presented in Lightbourne, the court should have taken judicial notice of that evidence.**

⁴Procedurally, Mr. Finney's case is similar to Schwab in that the lethal injection claim was denied without an evidentiary hearing being conducted. However, it is clear from this Court's opinion that Mr. Schwab waited until after his warrant was signed in July of 2007 to file lethal injection challenge based on the Diaz execution.

Schwab, 969 So. 2d at 322-23 (emphasis added).⁵

After finding error in Schwab when neither an evidentiary hearing was conducted nor judicial notice were taken, this Court concluded that the error was harmless. Mr. Schwab had specifically asked for the circuit court to take judicial notice of the evidence presented in Lightbourne. The circuit court's refusal to take judicial notice of that evidence was found to be harmless error "because Schwab has not presented any argument as to specific evidence he wanted to present in this case that had not been presented in the Lightbourne proceeding." Schwab, 969 So. 2d at 323, n. 2.

Like Schwab, Mr. Finney presented a facially sufficient lethal injection challenge based upon the circumstances of the Angel Diaz execution and the subsequent changes to Florida's lethal injection procedures. Unlike Schwab, Mr. Finney did not ask the circuit court to take judicial notice of the evidence presented in Lightbourne, but instead specifically requested that an evidentiary hearing be conducted in his case at which time he is able to present evidence in support of his claim. Unlike Schwab, Mr. Finney specifically invoked his due process right to notice and reasonable opportunity to be heard. Unlike Schwab, Mr. Finney asked for an evidentiary hearing at which he would be represented by

⁵This Court also noted in its Schwab opinion that the circuit court there had asserted that judicial economy would not be served if it were to hold an evidentiary hearing on the same issue litigated in Lightbourne. Clearly, this Court did not accept this reasoning when it found error.

counsel, able to present evidence, confront the State's evidence, and make his own arguments based upon the evidence presented challenging Florida's lethal injection procedures. Unlike Mr. Schwab, Mr. Finney sought and continues to seek the opportunity to present evidence not presented at the Lightbourne evidentiary hearing. Under the clear language in Schwab, the circuit court erred in denying Mr. Finney's lethal injection challenge without conducting an evidentiary hearing in his case.

Because he asked for an evidentiary hearing and did not seek to invoke judicial notice, the specific error presented in Mr. Finney's case is different from the error this Court found in Schwab's case. While an erroneous ruling denying a party judicial notice can be evaluated for harmlessness, the erroneous denial of an evidentiary hearing is a different matter. At an evidentiary hearing there would have been the opportunity to have counsel present evidence, challenge evidence, all in support of a constitutional claim. Such error is a structural defect - a basic denial of that bedrock due process principle of notice and opportunity to be heard and present material evidence.

A lethal injection challenge involves first a resolution of factual issues, and then second, the application of the legal standard, which was most recently enunciated in Baze v. Rees, 128 S. Ct. 1520 (2008). When this Court affirmed the decision in Lightbourne, a case heard over ten days, this Court employed the

standard of review requiring it to give deference to the circuit court's findings of fact. As result, this Court's ultimate decision affirming was premised upon whether there was competent and substantial evidence to support the circuit court's ruling. Certainly, a different judge hearing disputed evidence could reach different factual conclusions that would produce a different final result. The decision in Lightbourne rests upon factual findings. It cannot be divorced from the facts that were found by the circuit court and relied upon by this Court in affirming.

Similarly, the decision in Baze produced a legal standard. The United States Supreme Court explained the standard by which the facts demonstrated at an evidentiary hearing were to be measured. It is not a decision that applies in a vacuum. It requires the trier of fact to make findings to which the standard is applied to determine whether an Eighth Amendment violation has been demonstrated. Thus, neither Baze nor Lightbourne constitute a ruling that no matter what facts are found by the trier of fact, Florida's lethal injection procedure is constitutional.

This Court relied upon this basic due process guarantee in Teffeteller v. Dugger, 676 So. 2d 369 (Fla. 1996).⁶

⁶The touchstone of due process is notice and reasonable opportunity to be heard. The right to due process entails "'notice and opportunity for hearing appropriate to the nature of the case.'" Cleveland Bd. of Ed. v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532, 542 (1985), quoting Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 313 (1950). "[F]undamental fairness is the hallmark of the procedural protections afforded by the Due Process Clause." Ford v. Wainwright, 477 U.S.

There, several cases were consolidated in front of one judge for evidentiary hearing. At issue in these cases was the impact upon a capital defendant's right to effective and conflict-free representation at trial when the particular public defender assigned as counsel was a card carrying special deputy sheriff. At the consolidated proceeding, the joined capital defendants were present in court with counsel for the some of the testimony. However, large portions of the proceedings were conducted with only one defendant and his counsel in the courtroom. This Court found that capital post-conviction movants were entitled to be present with counsel for the entirety of their own separate evidentiary hearing on the individual claim, even though each defendant's claim was premised upon common factual allegations concerning the special deputy status that was enjoyed by the public defender. Under Teffeteller, due process requires each Rule 3.851 movant to a separate evidentiary hearing at which he can be present, be represented by counsel and present evidence in support of his claim while confronting any evidence presented by the State. Because the failure to provide due process in this fashion is structural error, this Court in Teffeteller did not look to whether the error was harmless before ordering the cases all remanded and separate evidentiary hearings to be conducted in each defendant's case.

399, 424 (1986)(Powell, J., concurring in part and concurring in the judgment). The deprivation of this bedrock due process right is structural error that can be no more harmless than the denial of the right to trial by jury.

To the extent that this Court disagrees and requires Mr. Finney to show prejudice - something he was not in a position to do in circuit court - this Court would have to remand in order to provide him with an opportunity to make that showing. It would be the height of absurdity to say that Mr. Finney was deprived of his right to be heard, but that he was not prejudiced because he has not demonstrated prejudice when he has never been given the opportunity to demonstrate prejudice.

Mr. Finney proffered the evidence that he was aware of at that point in time (PC-R. at 200-208). He sought to show what different evidence he would have presented. He proffered that he would call Sara Dyehouse as a witness to discuss the memoranda that she wrote in June-August, 2006 concerning the revisions to the lethal injection protocol (2PC-R. 2270). He proffered that he expected Ms. Dyehouse to testify that she had, through her interviews of the execution team and examination of events at prior executions, determined that an unconsciousness determination was necessary following the administration of sodium pentothal and that the procedures that had been followed in Florida did not provide for such a determination. He proffered that Ms. Dyehouse would testify that she advised the Department of Corrections that such a determination was necessary to eliminate the risk of unnecessary pain that would result from the administration of painful drugs to a conscious condemned inmate during an execution. Ms. Dyehouse would testify

that not only was this an unnecessary risk of pain, it was an entirely foreseeable risk of unnecessary pain. Ms. Dyehouse would testify that despite her identification of this specific defect in the lethal injection procedures, the Department of Corrections decided to ignore her warnings and did not adopt a procedure for making any kind of unconsciousness determination (PC-R. 204-205). Mr. Finney also proffered that he would call Secretary McDonough to testify about Ms. Dyehouse's memoranda. Though Secretary McDonough testified during the Lightbourne proceedings, he did not testify about Ms. Dyehouse or the memoranda that she prepared. In fact, when asked who on his legal staff worked on preparing the revised protocols in the summer of 2006, Secretary McDonough did not recall Ms. Dyehouse's involvement and gave no testimony in the Lightbourne proceedings regarding Ms. Dyehouse, her memoranda, or the content and recommendations contained therein. Mr. Finney proffered that the Secretary would testify in conformity with his statements to newspaper reporters following the conclusion of the Lightbourne evidentiary hearing that the decision to ignore Ms. Dyehouse's recommendation was premised upon matters totally unrelated to whether the risk of unnecessary pain had been eliminated or ameliorated in some fashion (PC-R. 205-206).

Similarly, Mr. Finney proffered that he would call Department of Corrections spokesperson Gretl Plessinger to testify. Though she testified during the Lightbourne proceedings, she did not

testify about the Dyehouse memoranda or the recommendations contained therein. Subsequent to the Lightbourne hearing, she too, made statements to the media about the decision not to provide for an unconsciousness determination. According to Plessinger's statements, the decision to reject the recommendation was made for the Department's convenience and not because there had been a determination that no risk of unnecessary pain existed (PC-R. 206).

Mr. Finney proffered that he would call Dr. David Varlotta, an anesthesiologist, who was on the Lethal Injection Commission that was put together after the Diaz execution to investigate what happened and make recommendations as to what changes were warranted. Following this Court's decision in Lightbourne finding that there was sufficient evidence in the record to support the circuit court's conclusion that employees of the Department of Corrections with no medical training could make an unconsciousness determination, Dr. Varlotta advised the *St. Petersburg Times*: "I cannot agree that individuals without advanced medical training would have the ability to adequately assess the level of anesthetic depth." Dr. Varlotta was not called as a witness during the Lightbourne proceedings. Mr. Finney proffered that he would present Dr. Varlotta's testimony that procedures currently in place are not adequate to insure that there is no risk of unnecessary pain (PC-R. 206-207).

It is clear that Mr. Finney was deprived of his due

process rights in circuit court. Mr. Finney was denied his right to present and to be meaningfully heard on his claim. The right to present evidence and be heard on questions of fact was afforded to Mr. Lightbourne, but were not afforded to Mr. Finney. This violated the right to due process as provided the 14th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and the corresponding provision in the Florida Constitution. The circuit court erred in refusing to grant Mr. Finney an evidentiary hearing on his challenge to Florida's lethal injection procedure in light of the Diaz execution. Schwab. The proper remedy is remand so that Mr. Finney can be provided with the same opportunity that was extended to Mr. Lightbourne - the opportunity to present the evidence supporting his facially sufficient challenge to Florida's lethal injection procedure. This Court should reverse and remand the summary denial of Mr. Finney's lethal injection claim.

ARGUMENT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. FINNEY'S CLAIM

THAT NEWLY DISCOVERED EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATES THAT HIS CONVICTION AND SENTENCE OF DEATH CONSTITUTES CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

A. Introduction⁷

⁷Mr. Finney notes at the outset that this Court addressed a similar claim in Rutherford v. State, 940 So. 2d 1112, 1117 (Fla. 2006). In addressing the merits of the claim and denying relief, this Court said that Rutherford had failed to demonstrate how the arbitrary factors outlined by the ABA Report prejudiced him. Mr. Finney presents this claim because he believes that he can demonstrate the prejudice that this Court found necessary, but wanting in Rutherford.

More than 30 years ago, the United States Supreme Court announced that under the Eighth Amendment, the death penalty must be imposed fairly, and with reasonable consistency, or not at all. Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 310 (1972)(per curiam).⁸ At

Even though this Court has denied claims similar to Mr. Finney claim in other cases, Mr. Finney is obligated to present his claim to this Court in order to "exhaust" for purposes of seeking federal habeas relief. As this Court's precedent holds, Mr. Finney cannot summarily present his constitutional arguments or rely upon pleadings detailing the claim that was presented in the circuit court. By virtue of his obligation to "exhaust" his constitutional claims and his obligation to fully brief the claim before this Court in order to have the merits heard, Mr. Finney must set forth his detailed argument even though this Court has adversely decided claims like his in other cases.

⁸The previous year, the U.S. Supreme Court in McGautha v. California, 402 U.S. 183 (1971), had considered whether:

the absence of standards to guide the jury's discretion on the punishment issue is constitutionally intolerable. To fit their arguments within a constitutional frame of reference petitioners contend that to leave the jury completely at large to impose or withhold the death penalty as it sees fit is fundamentally lawless and therefore violates the basic command of the Fourteenth Amendment that no State shall deprive a person of his life without due process of law.

McGautha, 402 U.S. at 196. In the majority opinion written by Justice Harlan, the Court found no due process violation. In reaching this conclusion, the majority noted the impossibility of cataloging the appropriate factors to be considered:

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