IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES WILLIAM FINNEY,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC08-2137

Lower Tribunal No. 91-1611

DEATH PENALTY CASE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0503843
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal presents the denial of a successive motion for postconviction relief challenging the constitutionality of lethal injection as a method of execution. The appellant, Charles Finney, was convicted of the 1991 robbery and murder of Sandra Sutherland and sentenced to death. This Court upheld his convictions and sentences on direct appeal. Finney v. State, 660 So. 2d 674, 678-79 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 1096 (1996):

According to the testimony at trial, Sandra Sutherland was discovered stabbed to death in her apartment shortly after 2 p.m. on January 16, 1991. The victim was found lying face down on her bed. Her ankles and wrists were tied and she had been gagged. On a nightstand near the bed was an open jar of face cream. The lid was lying next to the jar. The victim's bedroom had been ransacked, the contents of her purse had been dumped on the floor, and her VCR was missing.

According to the medical examiner the cause of death was multiple stab wounds to the back. Of the thirteen stab wounds, all but one penetrated the lungs causing bleeding and loss of oxygen, ultimately resulting in death. No bruises or other trauma was observed.

Numerous fingerprints were gathered from the victim's apartment, including prints from a piece of paper with German writing and from the jar on the nightstand. Fingerprints also were taken from the missing VCR, which was located at a local pawn shop. Pawn shop records indicated that the VCR was brought in on January 16 at 1:42 p.m. by Charles W. Finney for a loan of thirty dollars. Finney's fingerprints matched prints taken from the pawn ticket, the VCR, the jar lid, and the paper with German writing.

After it was determined that Finney had pawned the victim's VCR, Detective Bell of the Tampa Police

Department interviewed Finney on the afternoon of January 30, 1991. Finney told Bell that he knew the victim due to the fact that they had lived near each other in the same apartment complex. Finney told Bell that he had seen the victim twice since she moved to another apartment in the complex. Once, he had talked to her about putting a screened porch on the back of her new apartment and then about two months prior to the murder he talked to her by the mailboxes at the complex. When asked about his whereabouts on the day of the murder, Finney told Detective Bell that he was home sick all day and never left his apartment. Upon being confronted with the fact that he had pawned the victim's VCR, Finney told the detective he found it near the dumpster when he took out the garbage and then pawned it.

Finney called a witness who testified that the day before the murder he saw the victim arguing with a white male near the mailboxes at the apartment complex. Another defense witness testified that around 10 a.m. on the day of the murder, he saw William Kunkle, who worked as a carpenter at the apartment complex, come out of the victim's apartment. According to the witness, when Kunkle saw him, Kunkle came out of the door very quickly, locked the door with a key, and walked around the corner. The witness's girlfriend offered similar testimony as to Kunkle's conduct. In rebuttal, Kunkle testified that on January 16 he worked in the building next door to Ms. Sutherland's apartment, but had not been in her apartment that day. He denied ever having any conversation or interaction with the victim. The fingerprint examiner also testified during rebuttal that Kunkle's fingerprints did not match those found in the victim's apartment.

The defense sought to recall the medical examiner, Dr. Diggs, to testify that the crime scene was consistent with both a consensual sexual bondage situation and a situation where the victim consented to being bound and gagged out of fear. The State objected to the testimony as speculative. During proffer, Dr. Diggs told the court that whether a bondage situation was consensual was not something that a medical examiner would typically testify about or try to determine. The trial judge disallowed any testimony about the circumstances being consistent

with sexual bondage, but allowed Dr. Diggs to testify concerning the probable positions of the victim and of the attacker and about the fact that there were no defensive wounds or other signs of a struggle.

Finney took the stand in his own defense. He testified that he had lived near Ms. Sutherland in the same apartment complex until she moved about eight months prior to the murder. A couple of months after she moved, Ms. Sutherland talked to him about screening in the patio of her new apartment. At that time, she handed him a piece of paper to write down measurements but took the paper back. Finney testified that he returned about a week or two later but Ms. Sutherland had decided not to screen the patio. On that occasion he was in the victim's apartment, helped her move boxes and took various items out of the boxes. According to Finney the last time he saw Ms. Sutherland was a day or two before the murder. She was coming out of her apartment early one morning. She came over to his car and they talked. He further testified that he found the VCR near the dumpsters at the complex and had pawned it the same day for pocket cash. He stated that he did not steal the VCR and that he did not kill Ms. Sutherland.

Finney was convicted of first degree murder, armed robbery, and dealing in stolen property (V1/29-30). At sentencing, the State presented the testimony of Judy Baker, the victim of Finney's prior violent felony conviction (DA. V6/820-839). The defense presented the testimony of Finney's common law wife, Tammy Gallimore (DA. V6/839-859); a close friend and co-worker, Joseph Williams (DA. V6/860-869); and a forensic psychologist, Dr. Michael Gamache (DA. V6/869-892).

The jury recommended death by a vote of nine to three (DA. V6/921). The trial judge followed the recommendation, finding three aggravating factors: 1) Finney previously had been

convicted of a violent felony; 2) the murder was committed for pecuniary gain; and 3) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and five nonstatutory mitigating factors: 1) Finney's contributions to the community as evidenced by his work and military history; 2) Finney's positive character traits; 3) Finney would adjust well to a prison setting and had potential for rehabilitation; 4) Finney had a deprived childhood; and 5) Finney's bonding with and love for his daughter (V1/40-44).

Following this Court's affirmance, Finney sought certiorari review in the United States Supreme Court, challenging this Court's finding of a procedural bar on his claim of improper shackling. Review was denied on January 22, 1996. Finney v. Florida, 516 U.S. 1096 (1996).

This Court affirmed the summary denial of postconviction relief in October, 2002. Finney v. State, 831 So. 2d 651 (Fla. 2002). Finney filed a successive postconviction motion, also summarily denied; this Court affirmed that ruling in May, 2005. Finney v. State, 907 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 2005). Federal courts have also denied relief. See Finney v. McDonough, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 48789 (M.D. Fla. July 17, 2006); Finney v. McDonough, 127 S. Ct. 2944 (June 11, 2007).

On June 21, 2007, Finney filed another successive motion for postconviction relief, alleging that lethal injection in

Florida violates the Eighth Amendment ban on cruel and unusual punishment, based on the December, 2006 execution of Angel Diaz (V1/47-93). The motion also alleged that newly discovered evidence of a September, 2006 American Bar Association Report titled "Evaluating Fairness and Accuracy in the State Death Penalty Systems: The Florida Death Penalty Report," demonstrated that Florida's system was arbitrary and capricious, violating the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments (V1/60-92).

The State filed a Response (V1/101-108), and a Huff hearing was held on April 23, 2008 (V2/336-339). The motion was summarily denied at that time (V1/109-112; V2/338). Rehearing was sought and denied on October 23, 2008 (V2/200-208, 215-218). This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court has repeatedly rejected Finney's claims that lethal injection procedures in Florida are unconstitutional and that the ABA Report on the death penalty provides newly discovered evidence of the unconstitutionality of the death penalty.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING FINNEY'S LETHAL INJECTION CLAIM

Finney first challenges the trial court's summary denial of his claim that Florida's lethal injection procedures violate the Eighth Amendment prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. This claim is reviewed *de novo*. Tompkins v. State, 994 So. 2d 1072, 1080-81 (Fla. 2008).

Finney's claim of unconstitutionality is premised on the December, 2006 execution of Angel Diaz. This Court has repeatedly rejected this claim, and Finney offers no basis for reconsideration of the well established law conclusively refuting his allegations. See Ventura v. State, 34 Fla. L. Weekly S 71 (Fla. Jan. 29, 2009); Sexton v. State, 997 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 2008); Tompkins, 994 So. 2d at 1080-82; Power v. State, 992 So. 2d 218, 220-21 (Fla. 2008); Schwab v. State, 995 So. 2d 922, 924-33 (Fla. 2008); Henyard v. State, 992 So. 2d 120, 129-130 (Fla. 2008); Woodel v. State, 985 So. 2d 524, 533-34 (Fla.), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 607 (2008); Lebron v. State, 982 So. 2d 649, 666 (Fla. 2008); Lightbourne v. McCollum, 969 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 2007), cert. denied, 128 S. Ct. 2485 (2008); Schwab v. State, 969 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 2007), cert. denied, 128

S. Ct. 2486 (2008); see also Baze v. Rees, 128 S. Ct. 1520 (2008).

Finney's claim of a due process violation based on the denial of an evidentiary hearing has also been considered and rejected. In Tompkins, this Court addressed this argument, including the presentation of the same witnesses which Finney asserted should have been presented. This Court concluded that no error was shown; "the trial court did not err in not allowing Tompkins to present additional witnesses because the proposed testimony of these witnesses does not support a departure from this Court's precedent." Tompkins, 994 So. 2d at 1082. Notably, in Tompkins, relief was denied even though the pleading requirements under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 were satisfied. In the instant case, the postconviction motion did not meet the pleading requirements of the rule. Even if it had, relief would have been denied, consistent with Tompkins.

Finney's reliance on Teffeteller v. Dugger, 676 So. 2d 369 (Fla. 1996), is misplaced. In Teffeteller, this Court held that due process required individual evidentiary hearings, because the defendants presented "factually specific claims" with regard to their particular representation. Id., at 371. In this case, while Finney asserts that this Court is only considering the facts litigated in Lightbourne, he has not taken issue with

those facts or alleged that he would offer a different factual scenario. The witnesses he identifies, and their purported testimony, were directly addressed and refuted in Tompkins. No error has been shown.

As Finney's claim is without merit, relief must be denied.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING FINNEY'S NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE CLAIM

Finney next asserts that the American Bar Association Report of September, 2006 provides newly discovered evidence of the unconstitutionality of Florida's death penalty. This claim it also considered *de novo*. It has also been repeatedly rejected by this Court. See Tompkins, 994 So. 2d at 1082-83; Power, 992 So. 2d at 222-23; Rolling v. State, 944 So. 2d 176, 181 (Fla. 2006); Rutherford v. State, 940 So. 2d 1112, 1117, 1118 (Fla. 2006)). Once again Finney has offered no basis for a different result. The summary rejection of this claim must be upheld, and relief must be denied.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the Order rendered below summarily denying postconviction relief.